Master thesis

From gaming to decision-making:

Design-based research to foster critical thinking in a game-based learning environment

Wenyi Chu Faculty of Behavioral, Management and Social Science, MSc Educational Science and Technology,

University of Twente

First supervisor: Dr. J. Steinrücke Second supervisor: Dr. J. ter Vrugte

Submission date: October 18, 2022

Key words: decision-making, critical thinking, crisis response, learning dashboard, digital gamebased learning, design-based research

Acknowledgement

This thesis would not have been accomplished without support from many people, supervisors, teachers, and friends.

First, I specifically want to thank Dr. J. Steinrücke, who, since the beginning, has been guiding and supporting me while giving his expertise in my master thesis. He has encouraged me to keep going through some difficult times and he had never let me feel inferior. His consistent guidance, professional attitude, and abundant advice also inspired me as a teacher to understand my students with empathy and give them personalized guidance with a professional attitude.

Second, I would also like to thank Dr. J. ter Vrugte, my second supervisor, for her inspiring feedback even at the beginning of summer vacation. Also, thank you Alieke, Yvonne, and the teachers who organized this final project for me.

Third, I want to address my gratitude to the participants of my thesis. Thank you Xiaoang, Leon, Kim, Lina, Dary-Lienn, Gijs, Mark, and Ymko. Thank you for your time and efforts on this not-so-funny (but valuable) game. Your input was essential for my thesis.

Fourth, I want to thank my lovely friends, who have always been by my side, cared about my mental well-being and believed in my strength. It is impossible to list all your names, so please allow me to thank you in person and give you a warm hug. Especially thank you, Ammo, for always concerning my graduation progress and helping me with the English refine. I appreciate our whisky time. I also want to particularly thank Kim and Nur. Thank you for reading my drafts and giving me feedback; For having healthy or unhealthy drinks & food with me to celebrate or to unwind; And for always listening to my joy or frustration. I am happy that I match-made you guys (wink).

Lastly, I special thank my parents, who have supported me in studying & working in Twente for six years. Wenyi could not become a proud "75% Beijinger, 25% Tukker" without your love and support.

Thank you!

初汶猗

3

Abstract

Abundant and unverified information challenges individuals' cognitive processes to make optimal decisions. Critical thinking has proven to be a skill that could support optimal decisionmaking. Also, both critical thinking and decision-making were studies in DGBL environments. Nevertheless, it was unknown that how to foster critical thinking to improve decision-making in a DGBL environment. Thus, this design-based research tried to facilitate critical thinking for decision-making by designing a learning dashboard in a digital game-based learning environment, using the case of The Dilemma Game. The learning dashboard was designed and evaluated through three phases: investigation, designing, and evaluation. In Phase 1, data were collected by using Questionnaire 1, assessing six participants' critical thinking experience, which included four levels: awareness, self-reflection, sense-making, and impact from eight participants. In Phase 2, the design learning dashboard was designed based on participants' responses and literature suggestions. In Phase 3, the design learning dashboard was evaluated by Questionnaire 2 with The Dilemma Game's end-users. The outcome of this study confirmed that a learning dashboard could promote critical thinking by reminding learning goals, explaining in-game behaviors, and giving personalized suggestions. Follow-up research could focus on the examination of this research results. Also, the skill transition between digital game-based learning and real-life decision-making could be investigated.

Key words: decision-making, critical thinking, crisis response, learning dashboard, digital game-based learning, design-based research

Table of Contents

Acknowledgement	
Abstract	3
Table of Contents	4
List of Tables	6
List of Figures	7
1. Introduction	
1.1. Problem Statement	
1.2. Theoretical Framework	9
1.3. Research Question	13
2. Method	14
2.1. Research Design	14
2.2. Participants	15
2.3. The Dilemma Game	
2.4. Data Collection Tool	
2.6. Data Analysis	
3. Results	26
3.1. Phase 1	
3.2. Phase 2	
3.3. Phase 3	
4. Conclusion & Discussion	35
4.1. Concluding Notes	35
4.2. Reflection on Outcomes	
4.3. Limitations	
4.4. Future Recommendations	39
References	40
Appendices	
Appendix A: Questionnaire 1	44
Appendix B: Questionnaire 2	46
Appendix D: Participants	
Appendix E1: Questionnaire 1 Answered by Participant A	52

Appendix E2: Questionnaire 1 Answered by Participant B	.54
Appendix E3: Questionnaire 1 Answered by Participant C	.56
Appendix E4: Questionnaire 1 Answered by Participant D	58
Appendix E5: Questionnaire 1 Answered by Participant E	60
Appendix E6: Questionnaire 1 Answered by Participant F	62
Appendix F1: Questionnaire 2 Answered by Participant G	.64
Appendix F2: Questionnaire 2 Answered by Participant H	.66

Table 1	Features of The Design Learning Dashboard	. 29
Table 2	Participants in Phase 1	. 50
Table 3	Participants in Phase 3	. 51

List of Figures

Figure 1 Phases of design-based research (Reeves, 2006, p. 5	9)14
Figure 2 Screenshot of The Dilemma Game	
Figure 3 The Original Learning dashDoard	17
Figure 4 The Design Learning Dashboard	

1. Introduction

1.1. Problem Statement

With the Internet and continuous technological development, convenient access to information is the norm. Thus, individuals can easily access information by clicking or scrolling on portable devices like laptops or mobile phones. Consequently, there are excessive information sources, including unverified data. People risk accepting this data as truth, even though it might not be accurate, and using it as input for important decisions. For example, during the COVID-19 pandemic, citizens faced various sources of recommendation regarding COVID-19, including unverified news from social media (Depoux et al., 2020). Facing various sources of information, some individuals refused vaccinations or social distancing based on unverified advice from social media and as a result, prolonged the COVID-19 pandemic and public panic (Wang et al., 2020). Citizens need to decide which recommendation to believe among excessive sources of information. Ideally, that decision would lead to a lower COVID-19 impact on societies. The COVID-19 case shows that decision-making is crucial when people face different sources of information, as they need to make decides for uncertain health consequences.

In order to make the right decision, critical thinking is essential. Metaphorically, if decision-making is an engine and information is energy supply, critical thinking is the process of selecting the correct type of fuel to power the engine. Critical thinking can help individuals to value data correctly when they process it (Facione, 2011). Critical thinking means that individuals verify and evaluate received data to eliminate irrelevant or unverified information For example, individuals who thought critically and valued information from public health institutions were more likely to decide to accept the COVID-19 social distancing and vaccine (Tam et al., 2022). On the contrary, people who lacked critical thinking skills tended not to eliminate unverified news or rumors. Consequently, these individuals made decisions based on false information of COVID-19 is an example that instruction in critical thinking is becoming highly important. That is because critical thinking, as a 21st-century skill, allows individuals to gain a more accurate understanding of the information they encounter, therefore enhancing good decision-making in real-world applications (Dwyer et al., 2014).

Researchers (Chang et al., 2020; Cicchino, 2015; Mao et al., 2022) have already experimented with approaches of critical thinking instruction. Results confirmed that digital game-based learning could more significantly improve students' critical thinking tendencies than traditional instructions. Studies also confirmed the values of digital game-based learning for decision-making which is one of the desired results of critical thinking. A study (Nino et al., 2015) believed that game-based learning is a verified tool to facilitate decision-making training. Therefore, researchers (Sung et al., 2015; Sousa et al., 2019; Terri et al., 2019) have applied game-based learning to decision-making training in various disciplines, such as education, healthcare management, and crisis management. As mentioned in the previous section, critical thinking is vital for decision-making. Although digital game-based learning has been verified as a learning approach for both critical thinking and decision-making, it is still unclear how to foster critical thinking in digital game-based learning environments for decision-making. Therefore, this study investigates designing factors in digital game-based learning environments to trigger learners' critical thinking that leads to better decision-making.

1.2. Theoretical Framework

Decision-making: In general, decision-making is a cognitive process every individual applies, from choosing a dining restaurant to voting for a political party. In crisis management, such as COVID-19 response, decision-making is situational, urgent, and cognitively complex (vd Hulst & Ruijsendaal, 2012). In other words, decision-making is in uncertainties and opposed opinions between options with different outcomes and consequences, and it is influenced by multi-aspect information (Bakker et al., 2009). In order to make the decision that leads to the desired consequence, individuals should first select verified and accurate information for their decision-making processes. Thus, individuals should be able to evaluate the information they receive, which requires critical thinking skills to choose the right fuel for their decision-making engine.

Critical thinking: As discussed in the previous section, in crisis management, individuals require critical thinking skills to first select the reliable information then proceed their decision-making. This study follows the definition of critical thinking by Ennis (1993): critical thinking is "the reasoned and reflexive thinking that focuses on deciding what to believe

and what to do " (p. 179). Critical thinking is an essential cognitive process for individuals to select and reflect on the information they receive. However, individuals might neglect critical thinking while decision-making due to tendencies, bias, and distractions (Turan et al., 2019). When facing various information, critical thinking can assist individuals in identifying their tendencies, biases, and distractions that are related to this information. Then, through the filters of reason and logic, individuals foresee the consequences and decide whether this information is valuable and applicable. Therefore, explicit instruction on critical thinking can help reduce possible negative impacts of these tendencies, biases, or distractions in decision-making.

To investigate the theoretical foundations of critical thinking instructions, Snyder & Snyder (2008) concluded that instructions should stimulate learners' thinking processes instead of emphasizing rote memorization. Also, instructions should promote learners' thinking processes rather than solely on the learning contents, as critical thinking is a cognitive skill rather than merely knowledge (Snyder & Snyder, 2008). Besides, the assessments should also target learners' thinking processes but memory recall. (Snyder & Snyder, 2008).

Researchers (Haynes and Bailey, 2003) investigated critical thinking training. They agree that some questions can be asked to learners to guide them to think critically. By answering particular questions, learners must reflect on their thinking or decision-making process and verify the knowledge or information they apply, leading them to critical thinking (Haynes & Bailey, 2003). According to Haynes & Bailey (2003), these questions include:

- 1. What do you think about this?
- 2. Why do you think that?
- 3. What is your knowledge based upon?
- 4. What does it imply?
- 5. Should it be understood differently?

Based on instructional guidelines by Snyder & Snyder (2008) and critical thinking guidelines by Haynes and Bailey (2003), the U.S. Army developed a digital game-based program to practice and enhance military leaders' critical thinking skills in simulated combat scenarios (Fischer et al., 2009). According to Fischer et al. (2009), this digital game-based learning program was effective in critical thinking training and facilitated training remotely. The digital game-based learning training program confirmed that critical thinking could be optimally facilitated and practiced in a digital environment. The U.S. army's critical thinking instruction confirmed the effectiveness in promoting critical thinking of digital game-based learning, which cannot always be found in traditional paper-based or lecturing training approaches (Fischer et al., 2009).

Digital Game-Based Learning: Digital Game-based Learning (DGBL) describes a learning environment where decision-making and critical thinking can be significantly promoted compared to traditional instructions. Specifically, a DGBL environment includes game contents to promote learners' knowledge and skills acquisition, applies game elements to challenge learners' problem-solving (Qian & Clark, 2016).

Regarding its relation to decision-making, DGBL can provide a safe alternative to crisis management decision-making training (Schaaf, 2012). For example, Nur et al. (2020) designed a flood disaster DGBL environment that provides interactive learning for preschool students. This application helped promote awareness by guiding learners on making optimal decisions to survive during flood disasters. This DGBL design improved these preschool students' motivation and engagement by using animations to attract their attention and help them remain focused (Nur et al., 2020). As for DGBL critical thinking, DGBL is a verified medium for facilitating critical thinking skills. Chang et al. (2020) tested a digital educational game designed for Electrocardiogram training among nursing students. The experimental results revealed that nursing students who trained in this DGBL environment showed better learning performance and critical thinking skills than in studying in conventional classroom settings (Chang et al., 2020).

However, Kiili (2005) stressed that an instruction needs to provide learners instant and personal feedback, goal reminders, and moderate challenges to trigger their critical thinking in DGBL environments. In DGBL, some instructions applied scoring, the simplest approach, to give feedback. For example, in a digital money management training game, for every spending decision, the player increased or reduced in score as the form of performance feedback (Hwang et al., 2015). However, scoring as feedback approach does not provide personalization or goal reminders. Therefore, scoring might not significantly foster learners' critical thinking in GDBL environments. In addition to scoring, DGBL environments can include coaching to provide learning performance and instructions to learners as feedback (Tsai et al., 2015). But coaching might lead to information redundancy, and specific instructions can reduce learners' self-reflection, which results in less critical thinking. Learning dashboards are proven to be a more

effective feedback tool to trigger learners' critical thinking in DGBL environments, compared to scoring or coaching (Verbert et al., 2013).

Learning Dashboard: A learning dashboard describes an application to summarize and visualize students' learning performance patterns in a digital learning environment (Verbert et al., 2013). In other words, a learning dashboard is one way to provide learners feedback in DGBL. A learning dashboard usually includes charts, colors, line graphs, tables, pie charts, and network graphs to visualize or summarize data on learning performance (Verbert et al., 2013). It can also include corrective guidance on learning (Verbert et al., 2013).

As mentioned in the previous section, feedback can be challenging for DGBL to facilitate critical thinking. A learning dashboard is proven to be a practical approach to trigger critical thinking for learners (Tan et al., 2017). This is because learning dashboards capture and visualize traces of personalized learning performance and in-game data. By checking personalized data from a learning dashboard, learners can spontaneously reflect on their decisions and how they process received information (Freitas et al., 2019). Furthermore, learning dashboards can be a tool to help learners track their progress and keep motivated in learning (Verbert et al., 2014). Tan et al. (2017) implemented a 16-week experiment with a learning dashboard among Singaporean high school students to investigate students' reading performance, and the results confirmed that learning dashboard could benefit students critical thinking skills. Specifically, students' critical thinking skills were enhanced regarding information awareness, self-reflection, sense-making, and behavior changing, which were the four aspects of the learning analytic model by Verbert et al. (2013).

Learning analytic model: In order to measure and define critical thinking levels, evaluation criteria are needed. After looking into the literature, this paper used the learning analytic model (Verbert et al., 2013) to define critical thinking levels and created questionnaires. The Verbert et al. (2013) learning analytic model studied critical thinking and the implementation of a learning dashboard in a digital game-based learning environment, which closely matches this study's purpose. Thus, this study chose the learning analytic model (Verbert et al., 2013) to evaluate the learning of The Dilemma Game (will be introduced in section 2.3.) with questionnaire participants.

Specifically, the learning analytic model defines critical thinking into four layers: information awareness, self-reflection, sense-making on information, and behavior-changing

(Park & Jo, 2019). As such, this study's questionnaire was designed based on these four layers of critical thinking. According to the learning analytic model, the results presented to which degree a learning dashboard can foster learners' critical thinking.

1.3. Research Question

This design-based research answered the question: How to foster critical thinking for decision-making by using a learning dashboard in a digital game-based learning environment? To answer the research question, this study used the learning analytic model (Verbert et al., 2013) generating evaluation themes. Based on the evaluation themes, questionnaires was designed to collect data from participants who would play the decision-making game. After data collection, the dashboard was improved according to the literature and participants' feedback. Lastly, the design was evaluated by external experts based on the learning analytic model (Verbert et al., 2013). It was expected that the discussion and feedback from participants could explain how to foster critical thinking for decision-making in a game-based learning environment.

1.4. Scientific & Practical Relevance

This study can be both scientifically and practically relevant. In terms of scientific relevance, this study narrows the gap between critical thinking and decision-making in digital game-based learning environments. Moreover, these design principles can benefit future design-based research. Regarding practical relevance, this research provides a functional learning dashboard for a decision-making game. Last but not least, this study investigates how to use a learning dashboard as a feedback tool in a game-based learning environment, which can be a reference for future dashboard designs.

2. Method

2.1. Research Design

The research was designed following the four-phase design-based research model presented by Reeves (2006), depicted in Figure 1 below.

Figure 1

Phases of design-based research (Reeves, 2006, p. 59)



Refinement of problems, solutions, methods and design principles

Each phase, together with the original learning dashboard of The Dilemma Game, is described in brief below. Nevertheless, due to time limitations and discontinuation of The Dilemma Game designing, this research cannot follow iterative testing cycles or implement design learning dashboards in a new game.

Phase 1: Six participants were invited to play The Dilemma Game. These participants were selected because they have backgrounds in educational science, game-based learning, and/or designing. The procedures in phase 1 are as follows: First, participants played the game's first scenario. After they finished the first scenario, the researcher generated a stimulated learning dashboard and showed participants their gaming performance. Then, participants played the second scenario of the game. In the end, participants filled in Questionnaire 1 to reflect on their critical thinking triggered by the original dashboard and suggested improving the dashboard design regarding critical thinking fostering.

Phase 2: The researcher designed an outline for the learning dashboard of The Dilemma Game based on the literature and participants' suggestions and feedback.

Phase 3: Two potential game users were invited to join this research as external participants. These participants compared The Dilemma Game's original learning dashboard and this study's design, then responded to Questionnaire 2 to evaluate the improvement of the design learning dashboard regarding critical thinking promotion functions.

Phase 4: Summarize the results of this research. Reflect on the research process and findings, discussed the limitations of design theories, and suggest future learning dashboard design solutions.

2.2. Participants

Phase 1: In Phase 1, six participants took part in data collection. Participants in Phase 1 came from four different programs at the University of Twente: Educational Science and Technology, Psychology, Industrial Engineering and Management, and Industrial Design Engineering. One participant had nine-year experience in DGBL designing. The participants were aged from 21 to 45. Three of the participants were female, and three of them were male. Participants had various nationalities: three Dutch, one Chinese, one Lithuanian, and one Aruban. The group of participants was in many ways diverse and were a suitable sample group for DGBL testing

Phase 3: In Phase 3, two external experts participated in data collection. These two external experts worked in Brandweer Twente, the fire security department in the Twente region, the Netherlands. One participant has been working for nine years as the team leader in the knowledge center of Brandweer Twente. The other participant has been working as a learning specialist for two years. Both participants have experience in decision-making for crisis response. Therefore, their experience can be valuable in evaluating a serious decision-making game from a practical perspective. The researcher's first supervisor, Dr. J. Steinrücke, helped with getting in touch with external participants.

2.3. The Dilemma Game

The Dilemma Game is a digital serious game aiming to improve crisis management decision-making. The potential end-users of The Dilemma Game are mayors or decision-makers responsible for urgent crises, such as drought, flooding, or explosion. Specifically, the game creates dilemmas for players by providing different information from different positions, such as water authority, strategic communication advisor, policy advisor, operational leader, and the Vitens). It is named "dilemma" because the information can be reasonably opposed. A player needs to evaluate and follow in-game information correctly in a limited time. Figure 2 is a screenshot of The Dilemma Game.

Figure 2

Screenshot of The Dilemma Game



The Dilemma Game's original learning dashboard shows players the visualized summary and analysis of their answers, reading the information, the response time (in total and in each dilemma), and messages players marked as important. The dashboard also includes a section that encourages players to write self-reflections on their in-game behaviors and compare them with fellow players. Figure 3 depicts the original learning dashboard of The Dilemma Game. However, due to the discontinued online operation of The Dilemma Game, the original learning dashboard could no longer be generated for players. Based on the original learning dashboard in The Dilemma Game, the researcher simulated a learning dashboard and used it to summarize and demonstrate players' performance. The stimulated learning dashboard can be found in Appendix C.

Figure 3

The Original Learning Dashboard in The Dilemma Game

	to compare your own gameplay	behavior with the gameplay behavio	a di the other players.		
nswers					
Drivis : Yes / Yes					
Engmelio Marathon : Yes / No					
Shipping Industry : Yes / No					
Onrust : Yes / Yes					
otaal:					
m: 4/2					
Net answers					
ead information					\sim
	Fast activity	Contraction advant	Parcy advert	Construction and the	Leterna Admer
Totaal (U / Gemiddeld)	63% / 63%	63% / 63%	63% / 50%	50% / 25%	13% / 100%
Informatio Item 1	100% / 100%	100% / 100%	100% / 75%	75% / 50%	25% / 100%
informatie item 2	25%/25%	25% / 25%	25%/25%	25% / 8%	0% / 100%
	Tot	al time. Below the time used	for each dilemma is displayed 00:42 00:23 Departs Instally		
125/01/26 Instability full our diamona	Tot	al time. Below the time used 0.02 00.26 00.31 Data Control C	for each dilemma is displayed 00:42 Dispart Potating 00:23 00:23 00:23 19%		
E25 / 81.26 emddicid: tijd per dilerwna fessages you marked as impe	Tot 000	al time. Below the time used 102 00:26 00:31 104 00:31 11% 21% 25%	for each dilemma is displayed 00:42 00:23 00:23 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:23 00:23 00:23 00:23 00:23 00:23 00:23 00:23 00:23		
E25/81.26 emiddicic tijd per dierwna Hessages you marked as impro Criss: Yee	Tot 000 1.1	al time. Below the time used 102 00-26 00-31 1046 00-31 1056 21% 25%	for each dilemma is displayed 00:42 00:23 water 34% 19%		
Area a precipitation	ortant	al time. Below the time used 102 0026 0031 Conce Constraints 100 Constraints 100 Const	for each dilemma is displayed 00:4200:23 34% 19%	at the same time people use mu	ch more water than before.
Acts / er.ds erstatistics tigt per disrema Crass-Yee Crass-Yee Precipitation We have a precipitation The natural fire risk is s	ortant	al time. Below the time used (102 00-6 00-31 benchmonton) 51% 21% 25% auses the surface water and ground g in the parks and nature reserves.	for each dilemma is displayed 00:42 00:23 34% 19%	at the same time people use mu	ch more water than before.
Action of the second se	ortant	al time. Below the time used 102 00-00-01 Instantion 51% 21% 25% auses the surface water and ground g in the parks and nature reserves.	for each dilemma is displayed 00:42 00:23 00:23 34% 19%	at the same time people use mu	ch more water than before.
E25 / 01.26 embilished on tijd per discress. Aressages you marked as impro- Crisis: Yes Precipitation We have a precipitation We have a precipitation Fire The natural fire risk is s Engretis Marshen: Yes	ortant	al time. Below the time used that Deck 0.031 Deck 0	for each dilemma is displayed 00:42 00:23 34% 19% 34% 19%	at the same time people use mu	ch more water than before.
ADDE STATES CONTRACT OF CONTRA	ortant in deficit of about 300mm. This ca very high, everyone is barbecum nization) kinds of roadmaps. That's why we	al time. Below the time used trace in the surface water and ground auses the surface water and ground in the parks and nature reserves.	for each dilemma is displayed 00:42 00:23 00:23 34% 19% 34% 19%	at the same time people use mu	ch more water than before.
Precipitation P	n deficit of about 300mm. This of nization) kinds of roadmaps. That's why w	al time. Below the time used (22) 00-26 00-31 Instruction 1032 00-26 00-31 Instruction 1032 00-31 Instruction 1035 00-31 Instruction 1036 00-31	for each dilemma is displayed 00:42 00:23 34% 19% 34% 19%	at the same time people use mu	oh more water than before.
ALSE / 01 cfs ensistencie tijd per dilerwes ALSE / 01 cfs ensistencie tijd per dilerwes ALSE / 01 cfs ALSE	ortant In deficit of about 300mm. This ca wery high, everyone is barbecuin nization) kinds of roadmaps. That's why we ation report that due to reducing	al time. Below the time used in the parks and nature reserves.	for each dilemma is displayed 00:42 00:42 34% 19% water level to drop enormously, while d water level to drop enormously, while water level to drop enormously, while d water level to drop enormously, while d	at the same time people use mu	ch more water than before.
Criss: Ves	ortant in deficit of about 300mm. This of inization) ands of roadmaps. That's why we ation report that due to reducing auses enormous economic dama	al time. Below the time used incernet and a second	for each dilemma is displayed 00:42 34% 00:23 34% 19% water level to drop enormously, while water level to drop enormously, while water level to drop enormously, while g container terminals.	at the same time people use mu	ch more water than before.
E25 / 01.25 endedicide tijd per disremas Exercise you marked as impor- Creat: Ves Precipitation · We have a precipitation We have a precipitation Fire The natural fire tisk is s Figures Mariathin · Ves Figures Mariathin · Ves Roadmaps (Event organ We have prepared at 3 Bropping Industry · Ves Scarcity We know from the situs Scarcity We know from the situs Closing the locks will co Drust: Ves	ortant In deficit of about 300mm. This of Nization) Nication report that due to reducing ause enormous economic dama	al time. Below the time used trian in the parks and nature reserves. In the parks and nature reserves.	for each dilemma is displayed 00:42 34% 10% 34% 19% water level to drop enormously, while t wente already experience scaroly of g container terminals.	at the same time people use mu	ch more water than before.
Crust : Yes	ortant In deficit of about 300mm. This of Nearly high, everyone is barbocum Inization) Nation report that due to reducing ause enormous economic dama	al time. Below the time used incernet procession of the time used income auses the surface water and ground auses the surface water and ground in the parks and nature reserves. It ansport possibilities, residents in 7 ge, for example due to non-operation	for each dilemma is displayed 00:42 00:42 34% 19% 19% water level to drop enormously, while the water level to drop enormously, while g container terminals.	at the same time people use mu	ch more water than before.
	ortant In deficit of about 300mm. This of Nization) Nindis of roadmaps. That's why we attorn report that due to reducing ause enormous economic dama	al time. Below the time used incertion of the surface water and ground auses the surface water and ground in the parks and nature reserves. It ansport possibilities, residents in 1 ge, for example due to non-operation	for each dilemma is displayed 00:42 00:42 34% 100:23 34% 19% water level to drop enormously, while the water level to drop enormously, while g container terminals.	at the same time people use mu	ch more water than before.
EXES / 01.25 EXES / 01.25 EXES agrees you marked as important EXES / 01.25 EXES agrees you marked as important EXES Provide a precipitation EXES Prov	ortant redeficit of about 300mm. This ca wery high, everyone is barbecum inzation) kinds of roadmaps. That's why w ation report that due to reducing ause enormous economic dama	al time. Below the time used trace in the surface water and ground auses the surface water and ground in the parks and nature reserves. It ansport possibilities, residents in 1 ge, for example due to non-operatin	for each dilemma is displayed 00:42 34% 100:23 34% 19% water level to drop enormously, while t wente already experience scaroly of g container terminals.	at the same time people use mu	ich more water than before.

2.4. Data Collection Tool

Figure 4 indicates the outlines of data collection and procedure in this study. This research conducted Questionnaire 1 in Phase 1, and Questionnaire 2 in Phase 3. Both Questionnaire 1 and Questionnaire 2 are provided in Appendix A and Appendix B.

Figure 4

Data Collection and Procedure



Phase 1: Questionnaire 1 was designed based on the learning analytic model (Verbert et al., 2013). As described in the theoretic framework, the learning analytic model defines critical thinking into four tiers: awareness, self-reflection, sense-making, and impact (Verbert et al., 2013). Specifically, the implications of these four tiers are as follows:

1. Awareness: People are aware of the indicated information from the dashboard.

2. Self-reflection: People reflect on their in-game behavior data and ask themselves questions to assess their behaviors.

3. Sense-making: People create new insights on their way of solving in-game problems or update their understanding of data.

4. Impact: People change their in-game behaviors or decisions on gaming.

Questionnaire 1 asked participants nine questions regarding the four tiers of the data analytic model by Verbert et al. (2013). Under each tier, two questions were asked about participants' experiences and suggestions. At the end of the questionnaire, an open question aimed to evaluate the original dashboard and advise on its improvements. In order not to bias participants, Questionnaire 1 asked open questions. Specifically, depending on which tier, the first question under each tier inquired about participants' experience regarding information awareness, sense-making, self-reflection, or impact from playing The Dilemma Game and checking the original learning dashboard. The second question under each tier asked participants for their suggestions, depending on which tier, on improving information awareness, selfreflection, sense-making, or impact of the dashboard design. The following section demonstrates the explanations and example questions under each tier of Questionnaire 1:

Awareness: The first question inquired to which degree a participant noticed his/her ingame data after checking the original learning dashboard: "After checking the learning dashboard, which kind of data did you keep in mind while playing the second scenario?" The researcher would compare the data provided in the original dashboard and the participant's answer to evaluate to which extent the original dashboard triggered information awareness in the participant.

The second question asked the participants for suggestions on improving information awareness of the original dashboard. The second question also requested participants to provide reasons for their feedback. Thus, the researcher would justify the input based on the reasons. The second question was: "Do you have any suggestions for improving the dashboard's information presentation to help players be aware of the data? If yes, please specify with reasons."

Self-reflection: After checking the original dashboard, the first question checked whether participants asked themselves questions about their in-game behaviors or the information they used for decision-making. Specifically, participants were asked to answer which questions did they ask themselves to self-reflect. The first question was: "Based on the information in the

dashboard, could you reflect on your in-game behavior in the first scenario? (e.g., What did I do? How did I solve a certain problem in the game?) If yes, please specify."

The second question inquired about the input on improving the self-reflection of the original dashboard with specific reasons. The second question of this section followed the same structure as the second question of the awareness section but with a different target on self-reflection. This made the second question in the self-reflection section: "Do you have any suggestions to improve the current dashboard, to trigger players' reflection on their in-game behavior? If yes, please specify with reasons."

Sense-making: The first question checked whether participants generated new gaming strategies or new understandings on evaluating the in-game information for their decisions. In other words, this question investigated whether participants self-answered their self-reflection questions from the self-reflection tier. The first question in the sense-making question was: "According to the learning dashboard data, do you think you were inspired and generated any new insight on your way to solving problems in the second scenario? If yes, please describe." The second question followed the same structure with awareness and self-reflection but focused on sense-making.

Impact: The first question investigated whether participants changed their in-game behavior through awareness, self-reflection, and sense-making sequences. In other words, after checking the original dashboard, to what extent did participants change their behaviors to evaluate the in-game information for better decision-making? Therefore, the first question was formulated: "Did you change your in-game behaviors for decision-making in the second scenario after viewing your data on the dashboard? If yes, please specify." The second question followed the same structure with awareness, self-reflection, and sense-making but focused on impact.

Phase 3: Questionnaire 2 was designed based on the learning analytic model with nine questions (Verbert et al., 2013). Questionnaire 2 included four tiers of critical thinking (awareness, self-reflection, sense-making, and impact), with two open questions under each tier. At the end of the questionnaire, an overall open question asked participants for general evaluations and improvement suggestions on the design learning board. What made Questionnaire 2 differs from Questionnaire 1 is that Questionnaire 2 asked participants to compare the design learning dashboard with the original dashboard. Participants were also asked

to share their suggestions for further improvements to the learning dashboard. The following section explains and demonstrates the two questions of each tier.

Awareness: The first question asked participants to evaluate the original dashboard on information awareness. Specifically, participants were asked to judge if the original dashboard could nicely present players' in-game data. The first question was: "What do you think of the dashboard's information presentation of the original learning dashboard? Do you think it is well-designed to present player's data?"

The second question asked participants on the design learning dashboard to evaluate whether the adjustments had effectively promoted information awareness for players. Participants were also required to explain the reasons for their evaluations. Thus, the second question of the awareness section was: "Do you think the design dashboard can help players be better aware of their data? Please justify with reasons."

Self-reflection: The first question asked participants to what extent the original learning dashboard could trigger players' self-reflection. The participants were also asked to give reasons for their opinions. Thus, the first question was: "To what extent do you think the current learning dashboard can trigger players' self-reflection on their in-game behavior or decision-making?"

The second question followed the same structure as the second question of the awareness section but focused on self-reflection. Namely, participants were asked to evaluate and explain whether the adjustments had effectively promoted self-reflections for players. The second question was: "Do you think the intervention can potentially trigger players' reflection on their in-game behavior? Please justify with reasons."

Sense-making: The first question asked participants to determine to what extent the original dashboard helped players validate the in-game information or comprehend the in-game strategies. Therefore, the first question was: "To what extent do you think the current dashboard can help players understand interpreting data and changing their in-game strategies?" The second question focused on sense-making promotions of the design learning dashboard, following the same structures with awareness and self-reflection sections.

Impact: The first question asked participants to determine to what extent the original dashboard helped players validate the in-game information or comprehend the in-game strategies. Therefore, the first question was: "To what extent do you think the current dashboard can help players understand interpreting data and changing their in-game strategies?" The second question

focused on sense-making promotions of the design learning dashboard, following the same structures with awareness and self-reflection sections. "Do you think the intervention can enhance players' decision-making by triggering their awareness, reflection, and sense-making? Please specify with reasons."

2.5. Procedure

This study received ethical approval from the Behavioral Management and Social sciences Committee of the University of Twente. The Ethical Committee granted the permission in May 2021. Before data collection, all participants in Phases 1 and 3 provided active consent.

Phase 1: In this analysis & exploration phase, the researcher collected data from participants face-to-face to investigate the practical problems of The Dilemma Game's original learning dashboard. In total, there were six data collection sessions, with each on an individual basis. Each session took 45 to 60 minutes. First, the researcher invited participants to the BMS Lab at the University of Twente. After introducing the research purpose, data collection procedure, and the concepts of critical thinking, decision-making, and learning dashboard in digital game-based learning, the researcher guided participants to become familiar with The Dilemma Game.

Second, participants started to play the first scenario: Drought. Due to the discontinuation of The Dilemma Game, a learning dashboard could not be automatically generated. To cope with this problem, the researcher generated learning dashboards manually by documenting and organizing participants' in-game data. The researcher precisely timed and noted participants' data of answers, time spent on each dilemma, and information marked as important. Then, the researcher calculated and documented the percentage of time spent on each scenario and presented participants' in-game answers during their plays. Besides, the researcher asked participants to write down their self-reflection and included their answers to generate simulated learning dashboards for participants.

Third, the researcher demonstrated simulated learning dashboards to participants. Each participant 5 minutes to read their simulated dashboard and then reflect on their answers, the time they spent on each scenario, and the answers they marked as important. The researcher tried not to explain the information on the simulated dashboard but allowed participants to be aware, reflect, or understand the simulated dashboard.

Fourth, after trying to be aware, reflect, or understand their simulated dashboards, participants began to play the second scenario: Flooding. The researcher continued to observe the participant's in-game behavior, such as time spent on each scenario, answers, and information participants marked as important.

Lastly, after finishing the second scenario, participants filled in Questionnaire 1. Participants suggested improvements to The Dilemma Game's learning dashboard by thinking about how it could trigger their data awareness, self-reflections, understanding strategies, and chaining behavior.

Phase 2: First, the researcher organized and reviewed answers to Questionnaire 1 from the participants. As explained in 2.4, Questionnaire 1 asked open questions to not bias participants with their critical thinking experience. Therefore, to analyze data, the researcher needed to organize the transcripts and highlight the keywords from each answer. The researcher then compared the keywords from participants under each question and highlighted repeat keywords. Section 2.6. specifically explains the keyword screening method.

After summarizing the keywords, the researcher designed the learning dashboard based on participants' feedback and illustrated the design using the Canva design tool. Third, Participant C applied her design knowledge and experience in The Dilemma Game and assisted the researcher in refining the design learning dashboard. Lastly, the researcher checked and finalized the design learning dashboard and prepared it for Phase 3: Evaluation and Reflection.

Phase 3: In phase 3, the researcher used Questionnaire 2 to ask external experts open questions to compare the original dashboard and the design learning dashboard. The external experts also gave their suggestions for further design improvements. First, the researcher's first supervisor helped to contact two potential end-users of The Dilemma Game. These two external experts also had experienced The Dilemma Game with its original learning dashboard, which added practical value to evaluating the design learning dashboard.

Second, the researcher had two data collection sessions with participants separately via Microsoft Teams. Each session took 45 minutes. To begin with the sessions, the researcher introduced the research purpose and relevant concepts to the participant. Then, the participants compared the design learning dashboard to the original learning dashboard. Based on the learning analytical model by Verbert et al. (2013), both participants compared and evaluated the design regarding its improvements in triggering functions of awareness, self-reflection, sensemaking, and impact. Furthermore, the participants also shared their insights on improving the design learning dashboard from their work experience in decision-making.

2.6. Data Analysis

A thematic data analysis method was adopted (Bryan, 2016) to analyze to what degree The Dilemma Game's original learning dashboard corresponded to The Learning Analytics Model by Verbert et al. (2013). In order to identify the levels of critical thinking in the learning dashboard, the researcher selected awareness, self-reflection, sense-making, and impact as analysis themes.

Phase 1: Specifically, the researcher categorized the questionnaire answers based on tiers of awareness, self-reflection, sense-making, and impact in Phase 1 to measure critical thinking levels of The Dilemma Game's learning dashboard. As mentioned in section 2.4, the researcher summarized participants' answers into keywords. Then, the researcher compared and counted the keyword through the responses. A keyword would be included as a result of suggestion if:

1. The keyword appeared in more than half of the total (six) participants.

2. The keyword was repeated by the same participant in different questions.

Phase 3: Like the data analysis in Phase 1, the researcher first summarized the answers from external participants under each tier of questions. Then, the researcher counted each keyword's frequencies answered by the same external participant or answered under each tier. That was because the repeated keyword could be included in the results. Specifically, a keyword would be included as a result of suggestion if:

1. Both external experts mentioned the keyword.

2. The same external expert repeated the keyword in different questions.

3. Results

3.1. Phase 1

3.1.1. Awareness

Results: First, five out of six participants first noticed their "information marked as important" because that marked information directly influenced their decision-making. Second, three out of six participants were more aware of the "time spent in each scenario," as they believed it indicated some scenarios were more complex to analyze. Third, five out of six participants also realized other players' in-game behavior. That is because they tended to consider other players' decisions: "I did compare with others. I believe making decisions with the bigger population is better." Participant C. Fourth, all six participants perceived the reading information section. However, they did not comprehend it before the researcher's clarification.

Lastly, three out of six participants did not agree with the usefulness of reading information because it accumulated the reading times from all dilemmas. Participant D states, "it does not show how I agree with them."

Suggestions: First, participant B repeated three times to suggest the dashboard reminding the learning goals. In the original learning dashboard, there were no learning goals or goal-reminding. The lack of learning goals and its reminding could be confusing for learners. That was because learners need to be reminded why the learning dashboard displays certain information and the purposes behind this information. "The dashboard should remind you of the goals and add on every decision you made," suggested participant B, an experienced DGBL designer. However, the learning-specific learning or gaming objectives were missing in the original learning dashboard. The lack of specific learning objectives could be more confusing for learners to be aware of why the learning dashboard displays certain information and the reasons behind them.

Second, three out of six participants suggested improving the information visualization of The Dilemma Game's original learning dashboard. In the answers section of The Dilemma Game's original learning dashboard, numbers of "yes" or "no" were displayed, which might cause extra processing for learners. "Show how much percentage of people said 'yes,' how much percentage people said 'no,' that would be more comprehensive than giving several people who said 'yes or no.'" As advised by Participated B, who studied Industrial Design at the University of Twente.

3.1.2. Self-reflection

Results: The original learning dashboard triggered their self-reflections regarding decision-making strategies and in-game behaviors for five out of six participants. "Yes, I did reflect on my strategies and in-game behaviors. I realized that I counted the advice and took my values into account. I did not care much about the public image as a mayor." Answered by Participant F, a master's student of Industrial Engineering and Management from the University of Twente. However, one experienced DGBL designer participant shared the opposite opinion: "It does not help me to reflect on my behaviors because it is not a well-designed dashboard or game. I felt unmotivated by playing the game."

One participant also believed the original learning dashboard lacked some data exploration. "The current dashboard is quite neutral, and it would be better to tell me how well I perform. Then I will reflect on what went wrong, what went well." Answered by Participant D, a researcher in the Psychology Department at the University of Twente.

Suggestions: First, like the suggestion in Awareness, participant B repeatedly suggested reminding learners to align with their goals. In the original learning dashboard, goal setting, as well as goal reminding, were missing. Thus, learners might not be fully reflected on their current decision-making skills. Moreover, the learning dashboard could suggest to learners on "what to reflect on," such as "did you count every aspect of advice?", "What did you prioritize in decision-making as mayor?", "Did you tend to make decisions based on your intuition or advice?".

Second, three out of six participants suggested that the dashboard needed to highlight data exploration. As presented in the results section of sense-making, some specific information would trigger a participant to ask questions and self-reflect. In the original learning dashboard, only time-spending on each scenario applies visual data exploration but not other data, which might not help learners perceive their performance.

3.1.3. Sense-making

Results: Five out of six of the participants responded that the original learning dashboard did not greatly influence them in sense-making. Only Participant A said that he assumed that he had gained sense-making: "There are two factors that affect my final decisions the most: economical and citizen's essential needs. The best solution should be in the precondition of not causing massive damage to their basic needs to gain the most benefits. But to be honest, I am not sure." The ineffectiveness of sense-making promotion might also stem from the lack of goal-reminding or personalized feedback of the original learning dashboard. As Participant B explained: "It (the original learning dashboard) just counted messages. It did not make sense because it was over-simplified. It did not have a goal or tell me what my decisions mean."

Suggestions: According to five out of six participants, it is suggested that the original learning dashboard could include personalized feedback to enhance learners' sense-making in decision-making. Participant F agreed and suggested including: "Personalized feedback. For example, your decisions show your style of leadership and your concerns. Probably also suggests where to improve." Similarly, Participant A suggested including the reasoning of his decisions as thematic and personalized feedback. "(The learning dashboard should include) The reasoning for my decisions. It needs to be personalized, tells me what my decisions imply of myself: for example, it is based on moral standards or economic development."

3.1.4. Impact

Results: Three out of six participants believed that the original learning dashboard's feedback impacted their decision-making strategies from more intuition-based to advice-based. According to participant A, "Before reviewing my data, I normally just looked at the topic itself, and after, I already had a decision in my mind, and the advice could not affect me that much. After reviewing the feedback, I tried to think about the topic more objectively." On the other hand, one participant changed to less "advice-based" decision-making strategies. "In the first scenario, I made my decisions based on advisors' opinions. I anticipated a decision in the second half and then checked their opinions. I considered their advice and saw if I would change my mind or remain the same." However, Participant B and Participant C believed that the original learning dashboard did not impact their decision-making strategies or in-game behaviors.

Suggestions: Although participants experienced differences from the original learning dashboard regarding making impacts on their decision-making, their suggestions for improvements were surprisingly similar. All six participants suggested the original learning dashboard provide personalized feedback with explanations. Second, giving instructions or hints to learners on how to improve decision-making could be beneficial. As Participant D answered, "Receive personalized feedback. For example, based on my performance, what tendencies do I have while making decisions? Based on which kind of cues I tend to make decisions. Then tell me how to improve based on my feedback. Only presenting information might not let people understand." Third, Participant B repeated the importance of goal-reminding for the third time: "Again, remind goals. Explain their results according to goals. Give instructions on what people should do in real life."

3.2. Phase 2

Based on the results and suggestions from participants and literature, the researcher designed a learning dashboard for The Dilemma Game. As, Table 1 lists the design learning dashboard highlighted the following new features:

Table 1

Features of the Design Learning Dashboard

	Features of the design learning dashboard
•	Give personalized feedback by categorizing advises based on the themes of Economic
	Development of Engmelo, Essential Needs of Citizens, Public Image of the Mayor.

- Ask learners to set a decision-making goal by prioritizing the themes.
- Provide feedback on how well learners match their decisions with the learning goals.
- Indicate the strengths and weaknesses of their decisions styles.
- Give suggestions on how to improve their decision skills in real crisis situations.
- Improved data visualization.
- Figure 5 indicates the design learning dashboard of this research. This design learning dashboard was also used to collect external experts' feedback in Phase 3.

Figure 5

The design learning dashboard

dilemma dashboard

Your Data **Red** The Average Data of Same-style Mayors **Grey**

YOUR PROFILE

Goal: Assure Human Rights, then concern Economic Developments
75% decisions was based on Human Rights, higher than average 50%
25% decisions was based on Economic Developments, higher than average 25%

DECISION & INFORMATION MARKED AS IMPORTANT

Crisis	Yes 83%	Displacement 83%
Engmelo Marathon	No 50%	Necessary 67%
Shipping Industry	No 100%	N/A
Urest	No 16%	Temporary 100%

Burden 25% Capacities 100%

READ INFORMATION



TIME GRAPH



SUGGESTIONS

As an Mayor who values Human Rights, it was vital to consider **disaster management experts** (such as water authorities)' advises and **operational leaders**' advises because they can theoretical and practical values to your decisions on crisis response. Try to **consider more economic development when citizens' essential needs are met** since it can also influence human rights and a city's development.

SELF-REFLECTION

Your in-game behaviors, strategies, and compare them with other players. Try to think how to improve :)

3.3. Phase 3

This section presented the summarized keywords to Questionnaire 2 from two external experts. The results were presented based on the four tiers of critical thinking: awareness, self-reflection, sense-making, and impact.

3.3.1. Awareness

Results: In general, both external experts shared positive opinions on the awareness functions of the design learning dashboard. They believe the design learning dashboard contributed for two reasons: The more specific information and suggestions on behavior improvements. Participant G and Participant H stated that the ordinal learning dashboard was informative but should work on its readability. Therefore, it was not optimal for awareness facilitation. They wished the original learning dashboard had more explanation of their in-game information to help learners comprehend what the data means to them without too much effort. "I find it hard to figure out personalized performance. There were lots of numbers. I have to read very carefully. That is the wrong way. The dashboard needs to be clear and reader-friendly." Answered Participant H. The design learning dashboard, they find, could help learners better understand their performance and in-game behaviors. Participant shared his thoughts: "The specific information and explanations help me see what I am doing, how I can do better. It can trigger critical feedback for me".

Suggestions: Generally, the design dashboard could generate learner data awareness. However, participants also shared some concerns and suggestions. The first concern is regarding color indication: Red color indicates players' data, and gray color indicates average data. Although the red and gray color fits the logo of "The Dilemma Game," participant G thought using red to indicate a player's information might be confusing because he assumes that red color usually means mistakes.

On the contrary, Participant C, who has a design background, believed the red color could highlight players' data and therefore generate stimulation, which was aligned with a psychology study on color effects: warm colors such as red and orange could be stimulating in feedback among college students (Kaya & Epps, 2004). However, Participant G, as a senior

external expert, is prone to experience associating the red color with negative implications. Mammarella et al. (2016) studied the influence of color on seniors' memories and emotions and confirmed that the red color could easily trigger a negative impact among seniors.

3.3.2. Self-reflection

Results: According to the participants, the design learning dashboard made quite some improvement in terms of fostering self-reflection. Participant H believed the original learning dashboard did not help him self-reflect because he could not grasp his behavior analysis through the information. He answered: "No. It (the original learning dashboard) does not trigger me to have self-reflection. What did I do? Scenarios are more prominent than decision-making. This should indicate more about a learner's decision-making skills."

On the contrary, Participant H thought the design learning dashboard could make him self-reflective: "It is more clear about what I do compare to others." Participant G shared his opinions on self-reflection: "I am curious about the reasons behind the data. That made me ask questions about my way of playing and how the data get."

Suggestions: The feedback could be personalized based on players' prior knowledge of critical thinking or decision-making for further design learning dashboard improvement. The design learning dashboard indicated the information with comparison but judgment, and it also summarized players' decision-making styles and gave personalized conclusions. Participant H believed that judgment of performance might be beneficial: "It could add further information on judgments (good, bad, neutral) because I think judgment can trigger reflection for decision-making."

3.3.3. Sense-making

Results: The results indicate that explanations of in-game behavior or learning performance have improved to guide learners to answer the questions from self-reflection. Participant G provided this example: "In the Information Marked as Important Session, the N/A stood out. I was curious about it. I saw the explanation on the profile. Then I realized it might be because of bias." Participant H also confirmed the effectiveness of information explanations, who believed the original learning dashboard could not trigger his sense-making: "With the

explanation, it (the design learning dashboard) can help with sense-making. The dashboard needs some explanation to create critical feedback."

Suggestions: Despite personalized feedback and suggestions, Participant H suggested further improving the design learning dashboard from his work experience in decision-making responding to crisis events: "They could be further improved with referencing to related crisis decisions and effects, and the design learning dashboard could also include the worst scenario for each dilemma. This is because of our decision-making procedure: our group must react to a crisis within half an hour and consider the worst scenario and its lasting time. Also, we reference similar events to our decisions. But this could require changes in the game, not only for the dashboard." The Dilemma Game simulated crisis scenarios to let learners make decisions based on opposed advice. Therefore, process feedback on lasting effects and references on learning dashboards could facilitate learners' sense-making, particularly for potential learners familiar with real-life decision-making procedures.

3.3.4. Impact

Results: Both participants believe the design learning dashboard could impact changing learners' in-game behaviors and strategies. Indeed, the impact is more likely to happen after the generation of data awareness, self-reflection, and sense-making. According to the Learning Analytic Model, the effect is the fourth tier of critical thinking (Verbert et al., 2013). Furthermore, both participants stressed the importance of personalized feedback because they believe it could lead to behavior-changing: "Yes, personalized data. I reflected and followed the suggestions. Then I could try something new in the new game" Participant G shared his opinions. Besides, Participant H, who did not believe in the original dashboard, also confirmed the importance of suggestions for impacting learners: "There are clear feedback and suggestions, it can help to make an impact on my behaviors and ways of making decisions. I will focus on the feedback and suggestions."

Suggestions: Participant H believed that learners would benefit from the impact of the dashboard could provide emphasis on self-reflection to learners. Even though participants were optimistic about the impact facilitation of the design learning dashboard, they shared inputs on future design. Participant H believed that some learners tended to ignore the importance of

writing down self-reflection and therefore overlooked this section, which might have less impact on improving in-game behaviors. "People are not taking reflections seriously. The dashboard should be mandatory and create something to push players to reflect." To cope with these potential problems, Participant H also proposed a solution: "When a player plays the game again, the game could start with this player's self-reflection from last time." Besides, he also emphasized the meaningfulness of optimizing real-life transition: "Make the game part of your work portfolio.

4. Conclusion & Discussion

4.1. Concluding Notes

In conclusion, this study aimed to investigate how to trigger critical thinking to improve decision-making by designing a learning dashboard in a DGBL environment. For an effective critical thinking fostering game, the learning dashboard in this game is recommended to consider the following factors:

4.1.1. Awareness

First, the learning dashboard is recommended to remind learners of their learning goals for data awareness promotion. According to research (Few, 2013), a dashboard is supposed to remind players of the specific learning goals of The Dilemma Game. Few (2013) studied learning dashboards based on theoretical foundations and practical experiments. They proposed the designing principles of learning dashboards: "Dashboards display the information needed to achieve specific objectives." According to Yoo et al. (2015), awareness in learning dashboards can be understood as knowing what information is vital for a particular goal." Therefore, awareness of learning dashboards should be the outcome of perceiving and comprehending gaming performance and analyzing this information. In other words, learners are supposed to understand the purpose and relevance of the information provided in a dashboard.

Second, a dashboard is recommended to increase readability to foster information awareness. According to Few's (2013) design principles: "Dashboards are visual displays, and dashboards are used to monitor information at a glance." Learners have limited working memories, and a learning dashboard should foster players' awareness and promote rapid information comprehension. To help learners comprehend information rapidly, graphic patterns, rather than individual numbers, are more efficient for rapid comprehension and memory retention (Yoo et al., 2015). As a consequence, higher readability help learners comprehend the gaming data they receive, which creates a foundation to evaluate the information they use to make decisions.

4.1.2. Self-reflection

First, goal-reminding can also effectively trigger self-reflection for learners in a dashboard. Matsuo et al. (2020) confirmed that coaching positively correlates with critical reflection in line with learning goals. That is because being in line with learning goals could remind learners "what they want to achieve," "where they are," and "are they in the right direction?" through critical thinking. Similarly, in the DGBL case, being in line with the goal in the learning dashboard could help learners understand their current decision-making skills and the gap between their learning goals. Therefore, learners could reflect on the information they use to make decisions and re-evaluate its reliability.

Second, a dashboard is recommended to include data exploration to facilitate selfreflection. According to research (Chloe et al., 2017), data exploration, such as peaks or trends, can effectively trigger learners to ask themselves questions and to recall their behaviors because they are eager to understand which information has made them achieve these unusual numbers or patterns. Also, learners could ask themselves if the information sources are trustworthy since the information leads to such data explorations.

Third, a dashboard can include personalized feedback to trigger learners' self-reflection. However, limited feedback could have different effects based on learners' prior knowledge levels: corrective feedback could hinder experienced learners but guide novice learners, and vice versa (Fyfe & Rittle-Johnson, 2016). Therefore, giving personalized feedback could be optimal based on players' content knowledge, such as critical thinking and decision-making.

4.1.3. Sense-making

First, personalized feedback could also help learners to gain sense-making from a dashboard. ". Research (Lim et al., 2020) confirmed that learning analytic-based personalized feedback could help learners with their self-regulated learning processes. Specifically, personalized feedback presents learners' data in themes and indicates their strengths and weakness. Thus, learners could make sense of their strategies and behaviors based on their styles, then re-consider their information sources.

Second, a dashboard could also increase its relevance to real work events to promote sense-making to learners. Although it might require a re-design of the digital learning game but not only the dashboard, but processing life-based events significantly influences learning performance during simulation-related training (Astwood et al., 2008). That is because learners tend to reference work experience to the gaming-contents. Therefore, when the digital game learning is closely related to their working experience, they could easier comprehend the gaming information and select the more related information.

4.1.4. Impact

First, personalized feedback could also help learners to gain sense-making from a dashboard. ". Research (Lim et al., 2020) confirmed that learning analytic-based personalized feedback could help learners with their self-regulated learning processes. Specifically, personalized feedback presents learners' data in themes and indicates their strengths and weakness. Thus, learners could make sense of their strategies and behaviors based on their styles, then re-consider their information sources.

Second, a dashboard could also increase relevance to real work events to promote sensemaking to learners. Although it might require a re-design of the digital learning game, the dashboard and processing of life-based events significantly influence learning performance during simulation-related training (Astwood et al., 2008). That is because learners tend to reference work experience to the gaming content. Therefore, when digital game learning is closely related to their working experience, they can easier comprehend the gaming information and select the more related information.

4.2. Reflection on Outcomes

Feedback from end-users is vital for acquiring further development insights, although it has been stressed that the values of this feedback vary (Stade et al., 2017), as they might deviate from the research's evidence or design values. In this study, outcomes from end-users confirmed the improvements of the design learning dashboard and added insights on the real-life transition. However, end-users constructive feedback did not always reflect standard views expressed by researchers:

First, the end-user outcomes focused on information elaboration. Both end-users suggested more detailed implications on in-game behaviors and information interpretation. However, research guided that a learning dashboard should not extend one page because "information should be read by a glance" (Verbert et al., 2013). The purpose of the learning

dashboard application in DGBL environments also supports self-regulated learning, which might be limited by extensive instruction or interpretation.

Second, the end-users outcome involved the re-development of The Dilemma Game, not only refining its learning dashboard. For example, Participant H believed the game and its learning dashboard should display data on critical thinking skills instead of scenario results. However, the re-development of The Dilemma Game was out of the scope of this study, although it might potentially facilitate critical thinking for learners.

The different perceptions between end users and literature might stem from various factors, such as an end user's cognitive style, professional background, and even gender might lead to perception differences in feedback (Juvina & Herder, 2017).

4.3. Limitations

Phase 1. As hinted in the previous sections, this study has limitations regarding the unexpected discontinuation of The Dilemma Game. Due to the unexpected discontinuation of The Dilemma Game, a learning dashboard could not be automatically generated for participants in Phase 1. The researcher manually developed learning dashboard based on participants' ingame behaviors to cope with this issue. However, the researcher could not generate personalized information on the Read Information section of the learning dashboard because it required counting a participant's advise-clicking times on each advisor per scenario, which was not manually feasible. Although participants shared their opinions on the Read Information section, it could be optimal if they could reflect on their Read Information data for more accurate results.

Phase 2. In Phase 2, restrictions regarding discontinuation and programming constrictions, the design learning dashboard could not be implemented and applied to The Dilemma Game. To cope, the researcher used a digital designing tool to illustrate the design learning dashboard outline based on results from Phase 1. However, whether the design learning dashboard could be fully achieved and implemented was unclear.

Phase 3. In the last Phase, as a consequence of Phase 1 and 2, participants could not assess design learning dashboard based on their personalized data by playing The Dilemma Game. Instead, they evaluated the original learning dashboard and the design learning dashboard by comparing the samples. Observing sample data could differ from reviewing personalized data after gaming was another limitation of this study.

4.4. Future Recommendations

As discussed in the previous section, this study's limitations might hinder the conclusions' accuracy. Therefore, future research could focus on evaluating the outcomes by implementing the design learning dashboard and assessing the critical thinking facilitation with learners. Based on the evaluation results, researchers could continue the iterative design-based research process by further improving a learning dashboard for The Dilemma Game. For more accurate research outcomes, future research is suggested to re-develop the game and allow prospective participants to receive their personalized in-game data in a digital learning dashboard format.

This study aimed to narrow the research gap between critical thinking and decisionmaking in DGBL environments. To further close this research gap, future research could design a learning dashboard in other themes of DGBL but crisis management. Besides, future research could investigate other feedback tools, such as coaches, but learning dashboards to evaluate critical thinking outcomes.

Moreover, as this study's results suggested, there was a gap between learning in DGBL and real-life skill transition. Thus, future research could investigate how to apply DGBL outcomes to real-life decision-making skills.

References

- Aguinis, H., & Kraiger, K. (2009). Benefits of training and development for individuals and teams, organizations, and society. *Annual review of psychology*, 60(1), 451-474. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.60.110707.163505</u>
- Astwood, R. S., Van Buskirk, W. L., Cornejo, J. M., & Dalton, J. (2008). The Impact of Different Feedback Types on Decision-Making in Simulation Based Training Environments. *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting*, 52(26), 2062–2066. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/154193120805202606</u>
- Bakker, M. H., Kerstholt, J. H., van Bommel, M., & Giebels, E. (2019). Decision-making during a crisis: The interplay of narratives and statistical information before and after crisis communication. *Journal of risk research*, 22(11), 1409-1424. https://doi.org/10.1080/13669877.2018.1473464
- Cicchino, M. I. (2013). Using game-based learning to foster critical thinking in student discourse. Rutgers The State University of New Jersey-New Brunswick. <u>https://doi.org/10.7771/1541-5015.1481</u>
- Chang, C. Y., Kao, C. H., Hwang, G. J., & Lin, F. H. (2020). From experiencing to critical thinking: A contextual game-based learning approach to improving nursing students' performance in Electrocardiogram training. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 68(3), 1225-1245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-019-09723-x</u>
- D'Argembeau, A., Feyers, D., Majerus, S., Collette, F., Van der Linden, M., Maquet, P., & Salmon, E. (2008). Self-reflection across time: cortical midline structures differentiate between present and past selves. *Social cognitive and affective neuroscience*, *3*(3), 244-252. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsn020</u>
- Depoux, A., Martin, S., Karafillakis, E., Preet, R., Wilder-Smith, A., & Larson, H. (2020). The pandemic of social media panic travels faster than the COVID-19 outbreak. *Journal of travel medicine*, *27*(3), taaa031. https://doi.org/10.1093/jtm/taaa031
- Dwyer, C. P., Hogan, M. J., & Stewart, I. (2014). An integrated critical thinking framework for the 21st century. *Thinking skills and Creativity*, 12, 43-52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2013.12.004
- Facione, P. A. (2011). Critical thinking: What it is and why it counts. Insight assessment, 2007(1), 1-23.

- Fischer, S. C., Spiker, V. A., & Riedel, S. L. (2009). Critical Thinking Training for Army Officers. Volume Three. Development and Assessment of a Web-Based Training Program. Fischer.
- Fyfe, E. R., & Rittle-Johnson, B. (2016). Feedback both helps and hinders learning: The causal role of prior knowledge. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 108(1), 82. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000053
- Few, S. (2013). Information Dashboard Design: Displaying data for at-a-glance monitoring (5). Burlingame: Analytics Press.
- Freitas, E. L. S. X., de Oliveira, T. T., de Souza, F. D. F., & Garcia, V. C. (2019, July). Learning analytics: A brief overview of applications and their advantages. In 2019 IEEE 19th International Conference on Advanced Learning Technologies (ICALT), 2161, 190-191. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/icalt.2019.00064.</u>
- Gao, X., & Yu, J. (2020). Public governance mechanism in the prevention and control of the COVID-19: information, decision-making, and execution. *Journal of Chinese Governance*, 5(2), 178-197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/23812346.2020.1744922</u>
- Guo, Z. (2014). Based on the RMXP RPG game design and implementation. *Advanced Materials Research*, *1044*, 1102–1105.
- Haynes, T., & Bailey, G. (2003). Are you and your basic business students asking the right questions? *Business Education Forum*, *57*(3), 33–37.
- Hwang, G. J., Chiu, L. Y., & Chen, C. H. (2015). A contextual game-based learning approach to improving students' inquiry-based learning performance in social studies courses. *Computers & Education*, 81, 13-25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2014.09.006
- Juvina, I., & Herder, E. (2005). The impact of link suggestions on user navigation and user perception. In *International Conference on User Modeling* (pp. 483-492). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/11527886_66</u>
- Kaya, N., & Epps, H. H. (2004). Relationship between color and emotion: A study of college students. *College student journal*, 38(3), 396-405.
- Lim, L. A., Dawson, S., Gašević, D., Joksimović, S., Fudge, A., Pardo, A., & Gentili, S. (2020). Students' sense-making of personalized feedback based on learning analytics.

Australasian Journal of Educational Technology, 36(6), 15-33 https://doi.org/10.14742/ajet.6370

- Mammarella, N., Di Domenico, A., Palumbo, R., & Fairfield, B. (2016). When green is positive and red is negative: Aging and the influence of color on emotional memories. *Psychology* and aging, 31(8), 914. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/pag0000122</u>
- Mao, W., Cui, Y., Chiu, M. M., & Lei, H. (2022). Effects of game-based learning on students' critical thinking: A meta-analysis. Journal of Educational Computing Research, 59(8), 1682-1708. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/07356331211007098</u>
- Matsuo, M., Arai, K., & Matsuo, T. (2020). Effects of managerial coaching on critical reflection: mediating role of learning goal orientation. *Journal of Workplace Learning*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/jwl-06-2019-0086</u>
- Nino, M., & Evans, M. A. (2015). Fostering 21st-century skills in constructivist engineering classrooms with digital game-based learning. IEEE Revista Iberoamericana de Tecnologias del Aprendizaje, 10(3), 143-149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/rita.2015.2452673</u>
- Sousa, M. J., & Rocha, Á. (2019). Leadership styles and skills developed through game-based learning. Journal of Business Research, 94, 360-366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.01.057
- Stade, M., Fotrousi, F., Seyff, N., & Albrecht, O. (2017, September). Feedback gathering from an industrial point of view. In 2017 IEEE 25th International Requirements Engineering Conference (RE) (pp. 71-79). IEEE. <u>https://doi: 10.1109/re.2017.9.</u>
- Sung, H. Y., Hwang, G. J., & Yen, Y. F. (2015). Development of a contextual decision-making game for improving students' learning performance in a health education course. Computers & Education, 82, 179-190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2014.11.012
- Reeves, T.C. (2006). Design research from a technology perspective. Educational design research, 1(3), 52-66. (16) (PDF) Skilling Up: Providing Educational Opportunities for Aboriginal Education Workers through Technology-based Pedagogy. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.14221/ajte.2018v44n1.4</u>
- Schaaf, R. (2012). Does digital game-based learning improve student time-on-task behavior and engagement in comparison to alternative instructional strategies?. The Canadian Journal of Action Research, 13(1), 50-64. <u>https://doi.org/10.33524/cjar.v13i1.30</u>

- Snyder, L. G., & Snyder, M. J. (2008). Teaching critical thinking and problem solving skills. *The Journal of Research in Business Education*, 50(2), 90.
- Tam, C. C., Qiao, S., & Li, X. (2022). Factors associated with decision making on COVID-19 vaccine acceptance among college students in South Carolina. *Psychology, Health & Medicine*, 27(1), 150-161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13548506.2021.1983185</u>
- Tan, J. P. L., Koh, E., Jonathan, C., & Yang, S. (2017). Learner dashboards a double-edged sword? Students' sense-making of a collaborative critical reading and learning analytics environment for fostering 21st-century literacies. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.18608/jla.2017.41.7</u>
- Tsai, F. H., Tsai, C. C., & Lin, K. Y. (2015). The evaluation of different gaming modes and feedback types on game-based formative assessment in an online learning environment. *Computers & Education*, *81*, 259-269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2014.10.013
 Turan, U., Fidan, Y., & Yıldıran, C. (2019). Critical thinking as a qualified decision-making tool. *Journal of History Culture and Art Research*, *8*(4), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.7596/taksad.v8i4.2316
- Verbert, K., Govaerts, S., Duval, E., Santos, J. L., Van Assche, F., Parra, G., & Klerkx, J. (2014). Learning dashboards: an overview and future research opportunities. *Personal and Ubiquitous Computing*, 18(6), 1499-1514. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00779-013-0751-2</u>
- Wang, J. (2022). A Study on Critical Thinking of Chinese College L2 English Writers. Advances in Educational Technology and Psychology, 6(3), 5256. https://doi.org/10.23977/aetp.2022.060310
- Yoo, Y., Lee, H., Jo, I. H., & Park, Y. (2015). Educational dashboards for smart learning: Review of case studies. *Emerging issues in smart learning*, 145-155. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-44188-6_21</u>

Appendices

Appendix A: Questionnaire 1

This research uses a learning analytics model, including awareness, reflection, sensemaking, and impact (Verbert et al., 2013), to evaluate The Dilemma Games' learning dashboard. Please complete The Dilemma Game and answer the following questions:

Awareness:

- 1. After checking the learning dashboard, which kind of data did you keep in mind while playing the second scenario?
- Do you have any suggestions for improving the dashboard's data presentation to improve players' awareness? If yes, please specify with reasons.

Reflection:

- Based on the data in the dashboard, could you reflect on your in-game behavior in future scenarios? (e.g., What did I do? How did I make decisions in the first scenario?) If yes, please specify.
- 4. Do you have any suggestions to improve the current dashboard, to trigger players' reflection on their in-game behavior and decision-making strategies? If yes, please specify with reasons.

Sense-making:

- According to the learning dashboard data, do you think you could be inspired and generate any new insight on your way to solving problems in the second scenario? If yes, please describe.
- 6. Do you have any suggestions to improve the current dashboard, to foster better sensemaking in problem-solving for learners? If yes, please describe with reasons.

Impact:

- 7. Could you potentially change your in-game behaviors for decision-making in future scenarios after viewing your data on the dashboard? If yes, please specify.
- 8. Do you have any suggestions to improve the current dashboard for triggering players' positive behavior changes?

Thank you for your time and valuable suggestions! Your personal information will remain confidential. Your response will only be used for this research analysis.

Appendix B: Questionnaire 2

This research uses a learning analytics model, including awareness, reflection, sensemaking, and impact (Verbert et al., 2013), to evaluate The Dilemma Games' learning dashboard. Please answer the following questions to evaluate this research's design learning dashboard outlines.

Awareness:

- 1. What do you think of the dashboard's information presentation of the current learning dashboard? Do you think it is well-designed to present players' data?
- 2. Do you think the design learning dashboard can potentially help players to be better aware of their data? Please justify with reasons.

Reflection:

- **3.** To what extent do you think the current learning dashboard can trigger players' self-reflection on their in-game behavior or decision-making?
- **4.** Do you think the design learning dashboard can potentially trigger players' reflection on their in-game behavior? Please justify with reasons.

Sense-making:

- **5.** To what extent do you think the current dashboard can help players understand interpreting data and changing their in-game strategies?
- 6. Do you think the design learning dashboard can potentially promote players' sense-making on their in-game behavior and update their game strategies? Please elaborate on the reasons.

Impact:

- 7. To what extent do you think players can benefit from their decision-making on scenario two from critically thinking on the current learning dashboard?
- 8. Do you think the design learning dashboard can potentially enhance players' decisionmaking by triggering their awareness, reflection, and sense-making? Please specify with reasons.

Overall, what do you think of this research's design learning dashboard in promoting players' critical thinking? Do you have any suggestions for improvement?

Thank you for your time and valuable suggestions! Your personal information will remain confidential. Your response will only be used for this research analysis.

Appendix C: Stimulated Learning Dashboard of The Dilemma Game

On this site, you can compare your own gameplay behavior until now with the gameplay behavior of other players. We ask you to write a couple of sentences at the bottom of this site where you explain why you played the game the way you did. Try to compare your own gameplay behavior with the gameplay behavior of other players.

Answers

Crisis /Yes

Engmelo Marathon /No

- Shipping industry /No
- Unrest /Yes

Total:

Yes /2

No /2

Read Information:



Time graph (A pie chart will be displayed after data collection of the ^{first} scenario)

Total time:

Below, the time used for each dilemma is displayed:

Introduction:

Crisis:

Engmelo Marathon:

Shipping industry:

Unrest:

Your average time per dilemma/ Reference average time per dilemma

Messages you marked as important:

Crisis

Engmelo Marathon

Shipping industry

Unrest

Write your self-reflection here. Try to describe why you played the game the way you did. Also, try to compare your own behavior with the behavior of others.

Appendix D: Participants

Table 2

Participants in Phase 1

	Gender	Age	Nationality	Study	Occupation
Participant A	Male	21	Chinese	BSc Industrial Design Engineering, University of Twente	Student
Participant B	Male	45	Dutch	(Part-time) MSc Educational Science and Technology, University of Twente	Student; GBL Designer
Participant C	Female	23	Dutch	MSc Educational Science and Technology, University of Twente	Student
Participant D	Female	24	Lithuanian	MSc Psychology, University of Twente	Researcher at Psychology Department, University of

					Twente
Participant E	Female	28	Aruban	MSc	Student;
				Educational	Research
				Science and	Assistant at
				Technology,	BMS Lab,
				University of	University of
				Twente	Twente
Participant F	Male	29	Dutch	MSc	Student
				Industrial	
				Engineering	
				and	
				Management	

Table 3

Participants in Phase 3

	Gender	Nationality	Occupation
Participant G	Male	Dutch	Learning Ability Specialist and Chief Duty Officer at the Brandweer Twente
Participant H	Male	Dutch	Team leader Knowledge at the Brandweer Twente

Appendix E1: Questionnaire 1 Answered by Participant A

This research uses a learning analytics model, including awareness, reflection, sensemaking, and impact (Verbert et al., 2013), to evaluate The Dilemma Games' learning dashboard. Please complete The Dilemma Game and answer the following questions:

Awareness:

1. After checking the learning dashboard, which kind of data were you aware of?

Information I marked as important, time spent in each scenario.

5. Do you have any suggestions for improving the dashboard's data presentation to help players be aware of the data? If yes, please specify with reasons.

Categorize the information, Count time for every category, and summarize.

"Safeness, Capacity, Citizen" (information literacy), suggestion on which is the most important for making decisions.

Reflection:

6. Based on the data in the dashboard, could you reflect on your in-game behavior in the first scenario? (e.g., What did I do? How did I solve a certain problem in the game?) If yes, please specify.

I realized that I went through all the conversations first by order and read again to gain some extra impression and then picked the most important information to see what impact could be made for my final decision.

7. Do you have any suggestions to improve the current dashboard, to trigger players' reflection on their in-game behavior? If yes, please specify with reasons.

Same with the first one.

Sense-making:

8. According to the learning dashboard data, do you think you could be inspired and generate any new insight on your way to solving problems in the scenario "Drought"? If yes, please describe. I guess. There are two factors that affect my final decisions the most, which are economic effect and citizens' essential needs. The best solution should be in a precondition of not causing massive damage to their basic needs s to gain the most benefits. But to be honest, I am not sure.

9. Do you have any suggestions to improve the current dashboard, to foster better sense-making on problem-solving for learners? If yes, please describe with reasons.

More specific statistics to time-spending on each kind of advice (economic, human rights, citizen's essential needs) per dilemma.

Impact:

10. Did you change your in-game behaviors for decision-making in the second scenario after viewing your data on the dashboard. If yes, please specify.

Before reviewing my data, I normally just took a look at the topic itself, and after I already had a decision in my mind and the advice couldn't really affect me that much. After reviewing the feedback, I tried to think about the topic more objectively.

11. Do you have any suggestions to improve the current dashboard for triggering players' positive behavior changes?

Interpret information with hints. Mark which are more important ones to focus on between dilemmas.

Appendix E2: Questionnaire 1 Answered by Participant B

This research uses a learning analytics model, including awareness, reflection, sensemaking, and impact (Verbert et al., 2013), to evaluate The Dilemma Games' learning dashboard. Please complete The Dilemma Game and answer the following questions:

Awareness:

1. After checking the learning dashboard, which kind of data were you aware of?

Time does not appear to be important for me. There seemed to be a "right or wrong" answer. Marked important information

2. Do you have any suggestions for improving the dashboard's data presentation to help players be aware of the data? If yes, please specify with reasons.

First of all, the basic set of goals. The dashboard should remind you of the goals and add to every decision you make. It only shows your data without an explanation.

Differentiate the dashboard based on stakeholders (needs)

Result of the decision once made. It should say how good or bad the decisions are and also specify the reasons.

Reflection:

3. Based on the data in the dashboard, could you reflect on your in-game behavior in the first scenario? (e.g., What did I do? How did I solve a certain problem in the game?) If yes, please specify.

It does not help me to reflect on my behaviors because it is not a well-designed dashboard or game. I felt unmotivated by playing the game.

4. Do you have any suggestions to improve the current dashboard, to trigger players' reflection on their in-game behavior? If yes, please specify with reasons.

Again, remind me of my goals and tell me where I am.

Give tips on what to reflect on.

Also, advise people what to do. That is why people need a coach.

Sense-making:

5. According to the learning dashboard data, do you think you could be inspired and generate any new insight on your way to solving problems in the second scenario? If yes, please describe.

It just counted messages. It did not make sense because it was over-simplified.

It did not have a goal or tell me what my decisions meant.

6. Do you have any suggestions to improve the current dashboard, to foster better sense-making on problem-solving for learners? If yes, please describe with reasons.

Make actual goals; tell people what to do, and give tips.

Impact:

7. Did you change your in-game behaviors for decision-making in the second scenario after viewing your data on the dashboard. If yes, please specify.

It deepens my fundamental beliefs that people who design these kinds of games are unpredictably wrong. It did not make an impact.

8. Do you have any suggestions to improve the current dashboard for triggering players' positive behavior changes?

Again, remind goals,

Explain their results according to goals.

Give instructions on what people should do in real life

Appendix E3: Questionnaire 1 Answered by Participant C

This research uses a learning analytics model, including awareness, reflection, sensemaking, and impact (Verbert et al., 2013), to evaluate The Dilemma Games' learning dashboard. Please complete The Dilemma Game and answer the following questions:

Awareness:

1. After checking the learning dashboard, which kind of information were you aware of?

Time but I did not care much about it. I did compare with others. I believe making decisions with a bigger population is better. I did not care about marking important information.

2. Do you have any suggestions for improving the dashboard's data presentation to help players be aware of the data? If yes, please specify with reasons.

Show how much percentage of people say "yes," and how many percent of people say "no" that would be more comprehensive than giving a number of people who said "yes or no." Also, make reading information clear with "bigger text and pictures."

Reflection:

3. Based on the data in the dashboard, could you reflect on your in-game behavior in the first scenario? (e.g., What did I do? How did I solve a certain problem in the game?) If yes, please specify.

I realized that I did not find the advice very insightful or detailed. I read them and try to make sense out of them, also combined with common sense and intuition.

4. Do you have any suggestions to improve the current dashboard, to trigger players' reflection on their in-game behavior? If yes, please specify with reasons.

More specific in-game indicator-related time. For example, show time-spending on different argument sights instead of only checking time-spending on a dilemma.

Sense-making:

5. According to the learning dashboard data, do you think you were inspired and generated any new insight on your way to solving problems in the second scenario? If yes, please describe. Honestly, not really. It was nice to see that my opinions were similar compared to the others, but it will not influence me that much. Time or marking important messages does not really influence me.

6. Do you have any suggestions to improve the current dashboard, to foster better sense-making on problem-solving for learners? If yes, please describe with reasons.

Relate Time-spending with types of arguments.

Impact:

7. Did you change your in-game behaviors for decision-making in the second scenario after viewing your data on the dashboard. If yes, please specify.

No.

8. Do you have any suggestions to improve the current dashboard for triggering players' positive behavior changes?

To show what effects those decisions have in real life.; Instructions on how to do it and how to analyze it. Personally, I would show the pros and cons of dashboards; Give suggestions on how to make a better decision under the game's scenarios.

Thank you for your time and valuable suggestions! Your personal information will remain confidential. Your response will only be used for this research analysis.

Appendix E4: Questionnaire 1 Answered by Participant D

This research uses a learning analytics model, including awareness, reflection, sensemaking, and impact (Verbert et al., 2013), to evaluate The Dilemma Games' learning dashboard. Please complete The Dilemma Game and answer the following questions:

Awareness:

1. After checking the learning dashboard, which kind of information were you aware of?

Others' answers of yes or no, how much time I spent on each task, and how many answers I marked as important. not the read information because it does not show how I agree with the

2. Do you have any suggestions for improving the dashboard's data presentation to help players be aware of the data? If yes, please specify with reasons.

With whom I agree the most and whose answers I marked the most.

Reflection:

3. Based on the data in the dashboard, could you reflect on your in-game behavior in the first scenario? (e.g., What did I do? How did I solve a certain problem in the game?) If yes, please specify.

Yes, I reflected a bit. The difficult dilemmas took longer, and I marked more information as important.

4. Do you have any suggestions to improve the current dashboard, to trigger players' reflection on their in-game behavior? If yes, please specify with reasons.

Make it a table, show answers per scenario, whether marked important.

Add outcome, show result.

The current dashboard is also quite neutral, and it would be better to tell me how well you perform. Then I will reflect on what went wrong and what went well.

Sense-making:

5. According to the learning dashboard data, do you think you were inspired and generated any new insight on your way to solving problems in the second scenario? If yes, please describe. I think it did inspire me. It helped me to change my strategies. I tried to consider more opinions, even for the ones that were simple. I tried to spend an equal amount of time on each dilemma.

6. Do you have any suggestions to improve the current dashboard, to foster better sense-making on problem-solving for learners? If yes, please describe with reasons.Present data based on per advisor also shows whether a decision is optimal or not.

It could help if there are some tips. For example, in the drought scenario, tips can be given regarding the importance of fire departments. Also, when someone does not mark any information as important, it would be nice to receive tips on doing so.

Impact:

7. Did you change your in-game behaviors for decision-making in the second scenario after viewing your data on the dashboard. If yes, please specify.

Getting feedback midway did impact my in-game behavior. In real life, it does remind me to consider all-around opinions and choose to pay more attention to important opinions. I marked more information as important.

8. Do you have any suggestions to improve the current dashboard for triggering players' positive behavior changes?

Receive personalized feedback. For example, based on my performance, what tendency do I have while making decisions. Based on which kind of cues I tend to make decisions. Then tell me how to improve based on my personal feedback.

Only presenting information might not let people understand.

Thank you for your time and valuable suggestions! Your personal information will remain confidential. Your response will only be used for this research analysis.

Appendix E5: Questionnaire 1 Answered by Participant E

This research uses a learning analytics model, including awareness, reflection, sensemaking, and impact (Verbert et al., 2013), to evaluate The Dilemma Games' learning dashboard. Please complete The Dilemma Game and answer the following questions:

Awareness:

1. After checking the learning dashboard, which kind of information were you aware of?

How long do you take per dilemma, and what types of answers do I give. Information I marked as important

2. Do you have any suggestions for improving the dashboard's information presentation to help players be aware of the data? If yes, please specify with reasons.

The reasoning for my decision. It needs to be personalized. It tells me what my decisions imply about myself: for example, it is based on moral standards or economic development.

Reflection

3. Based on the information in the dashboard, could you reflect on your in-game behavior in the first scenario? (e.g., What did I do? How did I solve a certain problem in the game?) If yes, please specify.

After playing it more, I was better able to understand what information would be coming to me from the people, and thus instead of sorting out opinions, I was quicker at processing the information and choosing how I was going to vote.

4. Do you have any suggestions to improve the current dashboard, to trigger players' reflection on their in-game behavior? If yes, please specify with reasons.

Same as the one in awareness.

Sense-making:

 According to the learning dashboard data, do you think you were inspired and generated any new insight on your way to solving problems in the second scenario? If yes, please describe.
 No 6. Do you have any suggestions to improve the current dashboard, to foster better sense-making on problem-solving for learners? If yes, please describe with reasons.

First of all, based on personal feedback, then gives a reflection on agreeableness per advisor, per dilemma, and in total.

Impact:

7. Did you change your in-game behaviors for decision-making in the second scenario after viewing your data on the dashboard. If yes, please specify.

Yes. In the first scenario, I made my decisions based on my advisors' opinions. In the second half, I anticipated a decision, then checked their opinions. I took their advice into consideration and saw if I would change my mind or remain the same.

8. Do you have any suggestions to improve the current dashboard for triggering players' positive behavior changes?

Same as the suggestions above: Personalized decisions. I do not see the need to compare with others. Maybe also give improvement suggestions with reasoning.

Thank you for your time and valuable suggestions! Your personal information will remain confidential. Your response will only be used for this research analysis.

Appendix E6: Questionnaire 1 Answered by Participant F

This research uses a learning analytics model, including awareness, reflection, sensemaking, and impact (Verbert et al., 2013), to evaluate The Dilemma Games' learning dashboard. Please complete The Dilemma Game and answer the following questions:

Awareness:

1. After checking the learning dashboard, which kind of information were you aware of?

Rating the importance of advice.

Reflection on my strategies and in-game behaviors

2. Do you have any suggestions for improving the dashboard's information presentation to help players be aware of the data? If yes, please specify with reasons.

Maybe rate the statements the advisors gave. Sometimes the advisors/advice is not very important.

For example, the last dilemma festival. The police officer told me it is illegal to cancel this event. In this case, it won't make sense to cancel.

Reflection:

3. Based on the information in the dashboard, could you reflect on your in-game behavior in the first scenario? (e.g., What did I do? How did I solve a certain problem in the game?) If yes, please specify.

Yes, I did reflect on my strategies and in-game behaviors. I realized that I counted the advice and took my own values into account. I did not care much about the public image as a mayor.

4. Do you have any suggestions to improve the current dashboard, to trigger players' reflection on their in-game behavior? If yes, please specify with reasons.

Personalized feedback. For example, your decisions show your style of leadership and your mighty concerns. Probably also suggests where to improve.

Sense-making:

5. According to the learning dashboard data, do you think you were inspired and generated any new insight on your way to solving problems in the second scenario? If yes, please describe.

6. Do you have any suggestions to improve the current dashboard, to foster better sense-making on problem-solving for learners? If yes, please describe with reasons.

No

Impact:

7. Did you change your in-game behaviors for decision-making in the second scenario after viewing your data on the dashboard. If yes, please specify.

I was more assertive with my own reasoning.

8. Do you have any suggestions to improve the current dashboard for triggering players' positive behavior changes?

Personalized feedback. For example, your decisions show your style of leadership and your mighty concerns. Probably also suggests where to improve.

Thank you for your time and valuable suggestions! Your personal information will remain confidential. Your response will only be used for this research analysis.

Appendix F1: Questionnaire 2 Answered by Participant G

This research uses a learning analytics model, including awareness, reflection, sensemaking, and impact (Verbert et al., 2013), to evaluate The Dilemma Games' learning dashboard. Please answer the following questions to evaluate this research's design learning dashboard outlines.

Awareness:

1. What do you think of the dashboard's information presentation of the current learning dashboard? Do you think it is well-designed to present players' data?

Yes and no. There are lots of information, it needs more explanations.

2. Do you think the design learning dashboard can help players be better aware of their data? Please justify with reasons.

Yes, I like it. After playing it your way, you get the feedback with suggestions. But it requires specific prior knowledge. Color

Red might let me think they are mistakes.

Reflection:

3. To what extent can the current learning dashboard trigger players' self-reflection on their ingame behavior or decision-making?

It is suitable for this function. I am curious about the reasons behind the data. That made me ask questions about my way of playing also how the data get. When I get disappointed, I get triggered.

4. Do you think the design learning dashboard can potentially trigger players' reflection on their in-game behavior? Please justify with reasons.

For example, the viten 0% compared to 100%. I was triggered and asked myself what I did do so. The N/A, I realized it was because of personal experience, or bias.

Sense-making:

5. To what extent do you think the current dashboard can help players interpret data and change their in-game strategies?

Yes, but not that much information.

6. Do you think the design learning dashboard can potentially promote players' sense-making on their in-game behavior and update their game strategies? Please elaborate on the reasons.

I think yes. I try something different when I see something else that might be the reason. But it might be yes, but it might be no.

When I looked at more information, I focused on the read information.

They are a different—totally different experience.

Impact:

7. To what extent can players benefit from decision-making in scenario two from critically thinking on the current learning dashboard?

It was personal. The 1st time I did my best. The second time, I intended to do better. Then it does not matter.

8. Do you think the design learning dashboard can enhance players' decision-making by triggering their awareness, reflection, and sense-making? Please specify with reasons. Yes, the suggestions and specific data. I reflected, and I did or tried something.

Overall, what do you think of this research's design learning dashboard in promoting players' critical thinking? Do you have any suggestions for improvement? This one is 8/10, and the previous one is 6/10. The design learning dashboard made me curious. When it makes me curious, it is easy to trigger thinking.

Suggestions: only use small improvements. Do not make too much change.

Thank you for your time and valuable suggestions! Your personal information will remain confidential. Your response will only be used for this research analysis.

Appendix F2: Questionnaire 2 Answered by Participant H

This research uses a learning analytics model, including awareness, reflection, sensemaking, and impact (Verbert et al., 2013), to evaluate The Dilemma Games' learning dashboard. Please answer the following questions to evaluate this research's design learning dashboard outlines.

Awareness:

1. What do you think of the dashboard's information presentation of the original learning dashboard? Do you think it is well-designed to present players' data?

It is a lot of information. I cannot read what I did. I find it was hard to figure personalized performance—lots of numbers. I have to look carefully. That is the wrong way. The dashboard needs to be clear and reader-friendly. There was no trigger critical reflection for me.

2. Do you think the design learning dashboard can help players be better aware of their data? Please justify with reasons.

Yes, it is useful. It helped me see what I was doing and how I could do better. It can trigger critical feedback.

Maybe "an instructor+dashboard" can be better? An instructor can help understand the data and advise on how to understand the games.

I think it is important not to ignore the feedback in the dashboard.

Reflection:

3. To what extent can the original learning dashboard trigger players' self-reflection on their ingame behavior or decision-making?

No. It does not trigger me to have self-reflection. What did I do? It does not Scenarios are more prominent than decision-making, in my opinion.

4. Do you think the design learning dashboard can potentially trigger players' reflection on their in-game behavior? Please justify with reasons.

Yes, because it is more clear about what I do compare to others.

Still, further information, add good, bad, and neutral. This could trigger decision-making.

Sense-making:

5. To what extent do you think the original dashboard can help players interpret data and change their in-game strategies?

No. Same as the old one.

6. Do you think the design learning dashboard can potentially promote players' sense-making on their in-game behavior and update their game strategies? Please elaborate on the reasons.

Yes. With the explanation. The dashboard needs some explanation to create critical feedback.

The scenario is too much, but not the competence of the mayor.

For example, providing it could provide the worst or the best scenario.

How many times real case scenario. Measure real-case scenarios.

Within a half-hour, team together. A decision makes in an hour. You have to create a worst-case scenario and make decisions based on that.

Also provide that how many times have the worst scenario lasted?

We look in history, what already happened in the Netherlands. (reference crisis). It is very important in decision-making.

It should be closer to real-life cases.

Impact:

7. To what extent can players benefit from decision-making in scenario two from critically thinking on the current learning dashboard?

No.

8. Do you think the design learning dashboard can enhance players' decision-making by triggering their awareness, reflection, and sense-making? Please specify with reasons.

There are straightforward suggestions it can help. I will focus on the tips.

Overall, what do you think of this research's design learning dashboard in promoting players' critical thinking? Do you have any suggestions for improvement?

Overall, it is interesting. I believe in a serious game approach, and I suggest focusing on competence rather than scenarios. But maybe it should create a new game: dashboard and instructor. Help understand the data and real-life skill transfer.

Time for reflection is not enough—the feedback part of the game. People are not taking reflections seriously. Finish with your feedback part. Push players to think about that. Create something where self-reflection is mandatory. Do you need to reflect on that immediately? Maybe I will have more critical feedback later? The second part, next time you play. Start with reflection. Make it a part of a portfolio. Transition it to real life.

Thank you for your time and valuable suggestions! Your personal information will remain confidential. Your response will only be used for this research analysis.